No. 22-125,777-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

VICTOR JOEL CARDONA-RIVERA Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Lyon County, Kansas The Honorable W. Lee Fowler, Judge District Court Case No. 21CR366

Patrick H. Dunn, #18411 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 (785) 296-2689 fax adoservice@sbids.org Attorney for the Appellant

Oral Argument: 15 minutes

Nature of the Case

A jury convicted Victor Cardona-Rivera of two counts of rape, and one count each of aggravated burglary, aggravated criminal sodomy, criminal threat, and aggravated battery. (R.I, 260-267). The district court sentenced him to 310 months in prison. (R.XVIII, 26). Mr. Cardona-Rivera appeals his convictions and his sentence. (R.I, 303).

Issues Presented

- Issue I: Mr. Cardona-Rivera's convictions for two counts of rape are multiplicitous, in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Section 10 of the Kansas Constitution Bill of Rights.
- Issue II: The district court erred in overruling Mr. Cardona-Rivera's objection to the introduction of evidence of alleged other crimes after he was found not guilty of those other crimes by the jury at his first trial.

Statement of Facts

Overview

Mr. Cardona-Rivera and Y.M. are first-generation El-Salvadorian immigrants who worked at the same stone finishing plant in Herrington, Kansas. (R.XIII, 125, 184; R.XVI, 12). Y.M. accused him of breaking into her home in Emporia wearing a mask, brandishing a knife, and threatening her and her child with the knife while he sexually assaulted her. (R.XIII, 132, 158, 166-179). When Mr. Cardona-Rivera heard of these allegations at work, he denied them and left work to voluntary talk to the police and protest his innocence. (R.XVI, 48-49). He told the police that Y.M. had invited him over to her house, the sexual encounter was consensual, and that he did not have a knife or any other weapon. (R.XVI, 51).

Mr. Cardona-Rivera was charged with two counts of rape, and one count of sodomy, burglary, battery (of both Y.M. and her daughter Y.A.), assault, criminal threat, and intimidation of a victim. (R.I, 75-76). At his first trial, he was found not guilty of the battery alleged against Y.A. The jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on any of the remaining counts. (R.I, 184, 200-02). At his second trial, the jury returned further not guilty verdicts on the assault and victim intimidation counts, and guilty verdicts on the remaining counts. (R.I, 270-73).

Allegations and Arrest

On Tuesday, September 7, 2021, Victor Cardona-Rivera went to work at U.S Stone Industries in Herrington, Kansas with his wife, who also worked there. (R.IX, 69, 83). When he arrived at work, his supervisor approached him and told him that a coworker, Y.M., had accused him of raping her over the weekend. (R.IX, 84). He asked his supervisor for permission to leave work so that he could go to the police department and set things straight. (R.IX, 84). At 2:00 p.m., he left work with his wife and was on his way to the police station when he was pulled over and taken into custody by Detective Kevin Shireman, who took them to the Emporia Police Department for interrogation. (R.II, 5; R.XVI, 15).

Both Mr. Cardona-Rivera and Y.M. are from El Salvador and do not speak English fluently, so Officer Marcial Hernandez was brought in specifically to assist in the investigation and interviews of Mr. Cardona-Rivera and Y.M. because he is fluent in Spanish,. (R.XV, 81-82; R.XVI, 12). Mr. Cardona initially denied going to Y.M.'s home

or engaging in any sexual acts with her. (R.II, 6). However, he eventually admitted that he brought his son to Y.M.'s house early Saturday morning and that Y.M. and he engaged in consensual sexual relations. But, he repeatedly denied that he forced her to do anything and denied that he brought a knife with him. (R.II, 6-7).

On September 9, 2021, the State of Kansas filed a Complaint/Information alleging Mr. Cardova-Rivera committed eight offenses against Y.M. and her daughter. (R.I, 22-25). On December 3, 2021, the State filed an Amended Complaint/Information reincorporating the initial eight allegations against Mr. Cardona-Rivera and adding a ninth count – a verbatim recitation of the allegations in count two (rape). (R.I, 75-78).

<u>First Trial – State's Evidence</u>

At trial, Y.M. claimed she woke up to find Mr. Cardona-Rivera in her bed and sitting on her left leg. (R.VII, 189). According to Y.M., Mr. Cardona-Rivera had a knife and was threatening her and her daughter, Y.A., who slept in a crib next to Y.M. in her room. (RVII, 189, 198). She further alleged that Mr. Cardona-Rivera digitally penetrated her and forced her to perform oral sex on him. (R. VII, 194, 199; R. VIII, 9).

She testified that he broke into her house and was wearing a mask. (R.XIII, 155). She also testified that he threatened to kill her or her baby or her parents in El Salvador. (R.XIII, 157, 183). She also testified that he disguised his voice at first, but later revealed his true voice which she recognized from work. (R.XIII, 192). She claimed she was also able to identify him because he was wearing flip-flops and wore a necklace chain.

According to Y.M., these distinctive traits led her to identify Mr. Cardona-Rivera. (R.I, 191-92).

First Trial – Mr. Cardona-Rivera's Evidence

Mr. Cardona-Rivera testified in his own defense, stating that while working together on September 3, he and Y.M. made plans for him to visit her at her house the following day, Saturday, September 4. Mr. Cardona-Rivera's wife left to go to work on Saturday at about 4:30 a.m., and around 5:00 a.m., Mr. Cardona-Rivera and his eight year-old son got in his mini-van and drove to Y.M.'s home. (R.IX, 74-75). She had previously provided Mr. Cardona-Rivera her address and told him that she would be expecting him. (R.IX, 77).

When Mr. Cardona-Rivera arrived, Y.M. told him she wanted to have sex with him. Mr. Cardona-Rivera replied that he could not because he had his son with him. (R.IX, 78). Y.M. responded that he could bring his son inside and have him wait in the living room. Mr. Cardona-Rivera agreed, retrieved his son from his vehicle, returned to Y.M.'s house, left his son in the living room with his phone so he could watch cartoons, and went to find Y.M., who had already returned to her room. (R.IX, 78).

After briefly talking in her bedroom, they engaged in consensual, mutual masturbation. (R.IX, 82-83). After about thirty minutes, Mr. Cardona-Rivera ejaculated, and thereafter left with his son and returned home. (R.IX, 82-83).

Mr. Cardona-Rivera also testified about the statements he made to the police officers after he was arrested and taken to the station. (R.IX, 85). He admitted that the

statements he initially made to the officers were not truthful and that he was not honest because he thought his wife was observing the interrogation on the other side of one-way mirror inside the interrogation room. (R.IX, 104-05). He explained that he was afraid that if he admitted to engaging in sexual activity with Y.M., his wife would hear and he would be at risk of losing his wife and family. (R.IX, 105).

First Trial – Verdict

On April 21, 2022 the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on count seven – aggravated battery against Y.M.'s daughter – and was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on the remaining eight counts. (R.I, 201-02; R.X, 50-51). The district court declared a mistrial on the remaining eight counts, and set the matter for a pretrial conference on April 29, 2022. (R.I, 202).

Intervening Motions

Prior to the start of the second trial, the district court addressed two motions filed by the State. (R.XIII, 4-14). The first motion tendered by the State, sought to admit Mr. Cardona-Rivera's testimony from the first trial at his retrial. (R.I, 205-206). Mr. Cardona-Rivera's counsel objected to the motion, reasoning that: (1) an important function of the jury is to determine credibility and the outcome of that determination would be distorted by testimony read into the record by the State, and (2) the State's evidentiary basis for the admission of Mr. Cardona-Rivera's previous testimony – prior inconsistent statements – is an exception to the hearsay rule; not and independent basis for the whole-cloth recitation of his previous testimony. (R.XIII, 7-8). The district court

overruled his objection and ruled that Mr. Cardona-Rivera's prior trial testimony was "a prior, sworn statement of the defendant" and therefore admissible. The State was allowed to introduce the previous testimony of Mr. Cardona-Rivera through the reading of the prior trial transcript into the record. (R.XIII, 5-7).

The State's second motion sought to introduce evidence and testimony of the allegations that formed the basis of aggravated battery charge for which the previous jury acquitted Mr. Cardona-Rivera. (R.I, 214-18). Mr. Cardona-Rivera's counsel objected to the introduction of evidence of those allegations, because: (1) the jury's acquittal foreclosed the admission of this evidence under any theory that references a prior crime because the jury had determined that he did not commit a crime; (2) the limiting instruction proposed by the State did not go far enough and should include language about him being acquitted of those charges; and (3) that the conduct does not establish intent, as the State asserted. The district court overruled the objections and agreed with the State that the prior conduct was *res gestae* evidence and granted the State's motion. (R.XIII, 10-13).

Second Trial

At the retrial, the State recalled many of the witnesses it presented in the first trial. However, this time during the its case in chief, the State played the recorded interview of Mr. Cardona-Rivera for the jury and Officer Hernandez testified to the statements made by Mr. Cardona-Rivera (presumably because the majority of the interrogation of Mr. Cardona-Rivera by Officer Hernandez captured in the video was in Spanish). (R.XV, 80-

87; R.XVI, 3-28). At the conclusion of Officer Hernandez's testimony, the State read the entirety of Mr. Cardona-Rivera's prior trial testimony into the record. (R.XVI, 29-56).

Second Trial – Verdict and Sentencing

Also different this time, the jury reached a verdict; finding Mr. Cardona-Rivera guilty of counts one (aggravated burglary), two (rape), three (aggravated criminal sodomy), five (criminal threat), six (aggravated battery against Y.M.), and nine (rape). Mr. Cardona-Rivera was acquitted of counts four (aggravated assault) and eight (aggravated intimidation of a victim). (R.XVII, 42-43).

The court subsequently sentenced Mr. Cardona-Rivera 155 months each on counts two (rape), three (sodomy), and nine (rape). (R.I, 284-296). The court further sentenced Mr. Cardona-Rivera to 41 months' imprisonment on count one, six months' imprisonment on count five, and 12 months' imprisonment on count six. All sentences were ordered to be served concurrently – except for count two, which was ordered to run consecutive to all other counts – for a total of 310 months. (R.I, 284-300). Mr. Cardona-Rivera timely filed his appeal. (R.I, 303).

Arguments and Authorities

Issue I: Mr. Cardona-Rivera's convictions for two counts of rape are multiplications, in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Section 10 of the Kansas Constitution Bill of Rights.

Introduction

Per the Complaint/Information in effect at the time of his trials, the State charged Mr. Cardona-Rivera in counts two and nine with rape. The charging language – setting

forth the time, place, and manner of the alleged rape – was identical in both counts.

According to the State, Mr. Cardona-Rivera digitally penetrated Y.M. both before and after forcing her to perform oral sex on him. The State split this single course of conduct into three counts: two counts of rape and one count of sodomy. The verdicts for counts two and nine – the rape allegations – resulted in multiple convictions for the same offense, in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the U.S. and Kansas Constitutions.

Preservation and Jurisdiction

Although Mr. Cardona-Rivera did not make this argument below, he may raise it for the first time on appeal. As a general rule, appellate courts will not consider issues, even constitutional ones, raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Godfrey*, 301 Kan. 1041, 1043, 350 P.3d 1068 (2015). However, there are three well-recognized exceptions: (1) the newly asserted theory involves only a question of law arising on admitted facts and is finally determinative of the case; (2) consideration of the theory is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent the denial of fundamental rights; and (3) the district court was right for the wrong reason. *State v. Phillips*, 299 Kan. 479, 493, 325 P.3d 1095 (2014).

The first and second exceptions apply in this case. For the first, the facts determinative of the issue are settled in the transcripts; no unknown facts are needed. Plus, the outcome of this issue depends only on this Court's view of the law as applied to those settled facts.

For the second, at stake here is all defendants' fundamental right to not suffer multiple punishments for a single offense, which is prohibited by the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 10 of the Kansas Constitution Bill of Rights. U.S. Const. amend. V; Kan. Const. Bill of Rights, § 10; *State v. King*, 297 Kan. 955, 970, 305, P.3d 641 (2013).

Additionally, our Supreme Court has repeatedly held that an appellate court may consider a multiplicity issue raised for the first time on appeal in order to serve the ends of justice or to prevent a denial of fundamental rights. *State v. Weber*, 297 Kan. 805, 809, 304 P.3d 1262 (2013). For these reasons, this Court can resolve this issue and it is properly before this Court.

Standard of Review

"Questions involving multiplicity are questions of law subject to unlimited appellate review." *State v. Davis*, 306 Kan.400, 419, 394 P.3d 817 (2017).

Analysis

Multiplicity is the charging of a single offense in multiple counts of an information. *State v. Pribble*, 304 Kan. 824, 826, 375 P.3d 966 (2016). The Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution and the Kansas Constitution Bill of Rights prohibit the State from securing multiple convictions on multiplicitous charges. *State v. Sprung*, 294 Kan. 300, 306, 277 P.3d 1100 (2012). This is codified in K.S.A. 21-5109(e) ("A defendant may not be convicted of identical offenses based upon the same conduct"). If a person is convicted of multiplicitous charges, this Court must affirm one

conviction, and reverse the rest. *Sprung*, 294 Kan. at 311. To prevail on a multiplicity claim, Mr. Cardona-Rivera must demonstrate: (1) that his convictions arose from the same conduct; and (2) that the conduct constituted one statutory offense. *State v. Schoonover*, 281 Kan. 453, 496-97, 133 P.3d 48 (2006).

As for the first prong, in determining whether the conduct is unitary, this Court considers whether: "(1) the acts occurred at or near the same time, (2) the acts occurred at the same location, (3) a causal relationship existed between the acts, in particular whether an intervening event separated the acts, and (4) [whether] a fresh impulse motivated some of the conduct." *Schoonover*, 281 Kan. at 497. If unitary conduct is found, then this Court moves to the second prong and looks to the relevant statute to see if, by definition, there is one offense or more. *Sprung*, 294 Kan. at 308.

The relevant statute in this case is K.S.A. 21-5503(a)(1)(A) (rape). Mr. Cardona-Rivera's two convictions arose from unitary conduct and the statute does not allow for multiple units of prosecution. Therefore, the two convictions for rape are multiplications.

A. The State's evidence supports that this was unitary conduct

1. The acts occurred at or near the same time

Considering the first factor enunciated in *Schoonover*, 281 Kan. at 497 – that the acts occurred at or near the same time – this Court must conclude that the State's evidence supports a finding of unitary conduct. On cross-examination, defense counsel specifically asked Y.M. how long her interaction with Mr. Cardona-Rivera lasted. She responded, "I think it was for about one hour or something like that." (R.XIV, 25). One

hour has been considered at or near the same time in multiple cases before this Court. *See Amaro v. State*, No. 121,781, 2020 WL 68115591 at *7 (Kan. App. 2020) (unpublished) (one-and-a-half to two hour time period considered unitary conduct); *State v. Dorsey*, 224 Kan. 152, 153, 578 P.2d 261 (1978) (multiple counts of rape and sodomy committed over the course of one hour considered unitary conduct).

But, the statements by the prosecutor, and the testimony of their witnesses, demonstrate that Y.M.'s statement likely exaggerated the time span. For example, the State contended in their opening statement "the man put his fingers inside of her vagina and continued to do this – penetrating her repeatedly for the next twenty minutes." (R.XIII, 124).

This can also be seen via the State's theory tying the event to shortly before or after 6:00 a.m. Earlier in their opening statement, and again in their closing argument, the State claimed Y.M. awoke to Mr. Cardona-Rivera sitting on her leg at about 6:00 a.m. (R.XIII, 123; R.XVII, 15).

Based on the testimony of Y.M., Mr. Cardona-Rivera allegedly hung around for a while after sexually assaulting her and then she waited an additional few minutes after he finally left before contacting her boyfriend. According to the testimony of Y.M., instead of leaving immediately after the alleged sexual assault, she claimed that Mr. Cardona-Rivera went over to a desk and began looking through her papers and documents. She continued, "He didn't go and he kept standing there. I ask [sic] him several times to leave. And after several times, I ask him, he finally got out of the bedroom. He got out

of the bedroom, but not out of the trailer." (R.XIII, 185-86). According to Y.M., Mr. Cardona-Rivera eventually left and she "waited a little bit before [she] went out [of her room]." (R.XIII, 187.) She claimed that, approximately three minutes after Mr. Cardona-Rivera left her apartment, she called her boyfriend, Antonio Alvarado, who had just gotten to work that morning for his shift at 6:00 a.m. (R.XIII, 189; R. XIV, 93).

Mr. Alvarado also tied the event to 6:00 a.m. because that is when his shift began at work (R.XIV, 90). He testified that he did not remember the time Y.M. called him, but it was early that morning, and he had not been at work very long. (R.XIV, 94). He also testified that he was in a hurry that morning, the van with his carpool was waiting on him when he left the house, and that he was running around his house so fast that morning that he could not remember whether he left any lights on when he left (indicating that he did not arrive early for work). (R.XIV, 92-93).

During the four-minute phone call, Y.M. told him that a man had broken into the house and raped her. (R.XIV, 98-101). After the call, Mr. Alvarado called Y.M.'s uncle, Jesús Romero, who lived in the same trailer park as he and Y.M. (R.XIV, 107).

Mr. Romero testified that he received the phone call from Mr. Alvarado at 6:24 a.m., and that, after the phone call, Mr. Romero's wife called the police. (R.XIV, 107, 112). Officer McFaul also testified that he was dispatched to Y.M.'s apartment at "around 6:30 or so." (R.XIV, 136).

Based the testimony of the State's witnesses above, the evidence likely established that the sexual encounter lasted, at most, something less than half an hour (approximately

6:00 a.m. to 6:15 a.m.) The facts of this case are remarkably similar to the facts held as unitary conduct in *Dorsey*, 224 Kan. at 156. In *Dorsey*, "[t]he only difference in the three allegations of rape... was a lapse of a few minutes between each alleged offense." 224 Kan. at 156. Moreover, like this case, *Dorsey* also involved a case where the defendant was charged with oral sodomy occurring between the (allegedly separate) acts of rape.

Dorsey, 224 Kan. at 153, 156. Because the *Dorsey* Court held that the rape allegations constituted unitary conduct, this Court should do the same.

2. The acts occurred in the same location

Moving to the second *Schoonover* factor – the acts occurred in the same location – not only did the only alleged act take place in Y.M.'s bedroom, but both allegations of digital penetration occurred while Y.M. was in the same position on her bed. *Schoonover*, 281 Kan. at 497. Neither Y.M. nor Mr. Cardona-Rivera is alleged to have ever left the bedroom during the sexual encounter.

The recent cases of *State v. Rodrigues-Manjivar*, No. 120,039, 2019 WL 5089751 at *4 (Kan. App. 2019) (unpublished) and *State v. Snyder*, No. 119,452, 2020 WL 6372259 at *14 (Kan. App. 2020) (unpublished), are illustrative of the interplay between a change of location, or lack thereof, and whether conduct is unitary. In *Rodrigues-Manjivar*, 2019 WL 5089751 at *4, the allegations of criminal conduct were held to have occurred in the same location, and therefore unitary conduct, because even though the acts occurred in different rooms, the rooms were all in the same apartment. Similarly, in *Snyder*, 2020 WL 6372259 at *14, where an allegation of sexual assault that occurred in

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