No. 22-125777-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

> STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

> > ۷.

VICTOR JOEL CARDONA-RIVERA Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Lyon County, Kansas The Honorable W Lee Fowler, District Judge District Court Case No. 2021-CR-000366

> CARISSA BRINKER, 24765 Assistant County Attorney Lyon County Courthouse 430 Commercial Emporia, KS 66801 Telephone (620) 341-3263 <u>cbrinker@lyoncounty.org</u> Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

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

[I]t has long been held that evidence of other crimes may be admissible independent of 60–455 when such evidence is that of the acts done or declarations made before, during, or after the happening of the principal occurrence where those acts are so closely convicted to the principal occurrence as to become in reality part of it. Admission of such evidence is governed by the rules of evidence set out in Article 4, chapter 60, of the

Kansas Statutes Annotated

State v. Mims, 264 Kan. 506, 511, 956 P.2d 1337 (1998). In State v. Gunby, the

Kansas Supreme Court

"eliminated res gestae as an independent basis for the admission of evidence. It did not eliminate the admission of evidence of events surrounding a commission of the crime under the applicable rules of evidence." In other words, if a rule of evidence prohibits the admission of evidence, res gestae evidence does not become admissible simply because it establishes the circumstances surrounding the criminal act or civil wrong. On the other hand, res gestae evidence is not automatically inadmissible; rather, if the evidence is relevant it can be admitted unless a rule of evidence prevents its admission.

King, 297 Kan. at 964.

"Generally, when considering a challenge to a district judge's admission of evidence, an appellate court must first consider relevance. Unless prohibited by statute, constitutional provision, or court decision, all relevant evidence is admissible. K.S.A. 60–407(f)." *Gunby*, 282 Kan. at 47. Under K.S.A. 60-401(b), evidence must be both material and probative to be relevant. "Materiality requires that the fact proved be significant under the substantive law of the case and properly at issue." *State v. Faulkner*, 220 Kan. 153, 156, 551 P.2d 1247 (1976). "Probative evidence requires only a logical connection between the asserted fact and the inference it is intended to

establish." *State v. Robinson*, 306 Kan. 431, 436, 394 P.3d 868, 874 (2017). "Once relevance is established, evidentiary rules governing admission and exclusion may be applied either as a matter of law or in the exercise of the district judge's discretion, depending on the contours of the rule in question." *Gunby*, 282 Kan. at 47. "On appeal, the question of whether evidence is probative is judged under an abuse of discretion standard; materiality is judged under a de novo standard." *State v. Shadden*, 290 Kan. 803, 817, 235 P.3d 436 (2010).

Judicial discretion is abused if judicial action is: (1) arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, *i.e.*, if no reasonable person would have taken the view adopted by the trial court; (2) based on an error of law, *i.e.*, if the discretion is guided by an erroneous legal conclusion; or (3) based on an error of fact, *i.e.*, if substantial competent evidence does not support a factual finding on which a prerequisite conclusion of law or the exercise of discretion is based. *Fischer v. State*, 296 Kan. 808, Syl. ¶ 8, 295 P.3d 560 (2013).

State v. Woods, 301 Kan. 852, 861, 348 P.3d 583 (2015). After establishing relevance, it must be determined whether the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect of the evidence. *State v. Reid*, 286 Kan. 494, 512, 186 P.3d 713 (2008). The appellate courts review this under an abuse of discretion standard. *Id*.

In this case, the evidence that the defendant poked Y.A. with a knife was both material and probative thus it was relevant. This evidence was not

admitted to show that the defendant actually poked Y.A. with a knife, it was admitted to show that the defendant threatened harm to Y.A. with a knife to force Y.M. to comply with his demands. In order to prove the crimes of rape and aggravated criminal sodomy, the State had to prove that, during the sexual assaults, Y.M. was overcome by force or fear. (R. I, 242, 243, 248). In order to prove the crime of criminal threat, the State had to prove that the defendant had made a threat of violence and that the threat was intended to place Y.M. in fear. (R. I, 245). Additionally, to prove the crime of aggravated intimidation of a witness or victim, the State had to prove that the defendant made a threat of violence either against Y.M. or another person. (R. I, 247). The fact that a threat was made to harm Y.A., Y.M.'s daughter, with a knife was material and probative to all of these five charges as the State had to prove Y.M. was overcome by force or fear and that a threat of violence was made by the defendant. There were not any statutes, constitutional provisions, or court decisions that prohibited the admission of the evidence. Additionally, the probative value of the evidence greatly outweighed the prejudicial effect. The district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence because the court's ruling was not arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable; the ruling was not based on an error of law; and was not based on an error of fact. Therefore, the district court did

not err in admitting evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife to establish that Y.M. was overcome by force or fear and that the defendant had made a threat of violence.

Failure to Give Limiting Instruction

The defendant argues that the district court erred by admitting the evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife and not giving the jury a limiting instruction. (Appellant's Brief, 20). However, the defendant's argument fails because no limiting instruction was required as the evidence was not admitted under K.S.A. 60-455. Further, as K.S.A. 60-455 was not even applicable to the evidence because the evidence was res gestae, no limiting instruction was required. *State v. Sieg*, 315 Kan. 526, 540-541, 509 P.3d 535 (2022). A limiting instruction would have only been required if K.S.A. 60-455 applied. *Id*.

Collateral Estoppel and Double Jeopardy

The defendant argues that the collateral estoppel doctrine barred the admission of evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife. (Appellant's Brief, 20). In *Yeager v. United States*, 557 U.S. 110, 129 S. Ct. 2360, 174 L. Ed. 2d 78 (2009), the United States Supreme Court discussed the application of the collateral estoppel doctrine as embodied in the Fifth Amendment's protection against double jeopardy. The Court reaffirmed the

rule laid out in Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 90 S. Ct. 1189, 25 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1970), that in order to determine if double jeopardy was violated the reviewing court must "'examine the record of a prior proceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence, charge, and other relevant matter[s], and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration.' "Yeager, 557 U.S. at 120. The Court then went on to hold that when a jury verdict that necessarily decides a critical issue of ultimate fact, that verdict protects the defendant from further prosecution for any charge for which that fact is an essential element. Yeager, 557 U.S. at 123.

This language makes it clear that double jeopardy can only be found if the court must find that a "rational jury" could not have acquitted on the first charge without finding in the defendant's favor on a factual issue that the State needed to prove in order to convict him of any of the charges that the first jury hung on. Furthermore, it is the defendant who bears the burden of showing that "the issue whose relitigation he seeks to foreclose was actually decided in the first proceeding." *Dowling v. United* States, 493 U.S. 342, 350, 110 S. Ct. 668, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1990).

The State did not need to prove that "[t]he defendant knowingly caused physical contact with Y.A. in a rude, insulting or angry manner with a

deadly weapon [], or in any manner whereby great bodily harm, disfigurement or death [could have been] inflicted" in order to prove any of the eight charges he was tried for in the second trial. (R. I, 241-248). For rape and aggravated criminal sodomy, the State had to prove that "Y.M. was overcome by force or fear." (R. I, 242, 243, 248). For criminal threat, the State had to prove that "[t]he defendant threatened to commit violence and communicated the threat with the intent to place [Y.M.] in fear." (R. I, 245). For aggravated intimidation of a witness or victim, the State had to prove that there was "an expressed or implied threat of violence or force against the victim and/or other person." (R. I, 247). The charges of aggravated burglary, aggravated assault, and aggravated battery of Y.M. did not have any elements that the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife would apply to. (R. I, 241, 244, 246). The jury's acquittal of the defendant did not find he did not use a knife to threaten Y.A., it merely found that the knife did not make physical contact with Y.A.

This Court has addressed a similar issue in Anthony v. State, No. 103,572, 2011 WL 2555421 (Kan. App. 2011) (unpublished opinion). In Anthony, the defendant argued that he could not be tried for murder a third time after a jury in a second trial had found him not guilty of theft and aggravated burglary. Anthony, 2011 WL 2555421, at *2. He contended that the acquittals

were tantamount to the jury finding that he was not at the murder scene. Id.

The Court found that the jury's verdict merely found that Anthony had not

been inside the victim's residence, not that he was not present at the scene.

Id. The panel cited to the Kansas codification of double jeopardy:

K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 21-5110(b)(2) (formerly K.S.A. 21-3108[2][b]), which provides that a prosecution is barred if the defendant was previously prosecuted for another crime and that trial ended in an acquittal that ' "required a determination inconsistent with any fact necessary to a conviction in the subsequent prosecution' " See State v. Schroeder, 279 Kan. 104, 116, 105 P.3d 1237 (2005).

Anthony, 2011 WL 2555421, at *1. The Court went on to state:

The jury could have acquitted Anthony on the burglary and theft charges for a variety of reasons. But acquittal on that charge did not, in the words of our statute codifying the part of the double-jeopardy rule relevant to Anthony's case, "require[] a determination inconsistent with any fact necessary to a conviction" in the murder case. So there was no doublejeopardy bar at the third trial on the murder charge.

Anthony, 2011 WL 2555421, at *3.

Much like in Anthony, the jury in the defendant's first trial in this case could have found him not guilty for the aggravated battery of Y.A. for a variety of reasons. However, the acquittal was not a finding that the defendant had not threatened Y.A. with a knife, or even without a knife. Therefore, the acquittal did not "require [] a determination inconsistent with any fact necessary to a conviction" on any of the eight charges the defendant was tried for in the second trial. Thus, double jeopardy was not violated by the admission of the evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife.

Harmless Error

If the Court finds the evidence was admitted in violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment, the State argues that the admission of the evidence was harmless.

Error in the admission or exclusion of evidence in violation of a constitutional or statutory right of a party is governed by the federal constitutional error rule. An error of constitutional magnitude is serious and may not be held to be harmless unless the appellate court is willing to declare a belief that the error is harmless. Before an appellate court may declare such an error harmless, the court must be able to declare beyond a reasonable doubt that the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial. Where the evidence of guilt is of such direct and overwhelming nature that it can be said that evidence erroneously admitted or excluded in violation of a constitutional or statutory right could not have affected the result of the trial, such admission or exclusion is harmless.

State v. Sanders, 258 Kan. 409, 418–19, 904 P.2d 951 (1995).

In the case at bar, the only evidence admitted about the defendant

poking Y.A. with a knife was through limited testimony of Y.M. and in the video

of Y.M.'s interview with officers. During testimony, it was only brought up in

three questions and answers during direct examination of Y.M.:

Prosecutor: And what did he do?

Y.M.: Well, at that point, I was mad. I was, like, mad because it was hurting me. And he grabbed the knife and put it on my daughter's back - - on the girl's back like, you know, like pushing her with the knife, like.

Prosecutor: Do you know where the knife had been prior to him touching [Y.A.] with the knife?

Y.M.: No, I don't remember.

Prosecutor: Then, after he poked [Y.A.] in the back with the knife, what happened?

Y.M.: He put me on my knees.

(R. XIII, 172). This exchange takes up 12 lines, or approximately half of one page, of the transcript that has approximately 140 pages of testimony of Y.M. (R. XIII, 131-93; XIV, 3-81). In the video of Y.M.'s interview, there were two separate exchanges where the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife was referenced. The first was approximately 8:45 into the video and lasted for approximately 38 seconds.

Y.M.: Describing in Spanish.

Sergeant Hernandez: Clarifies in Spanish.

Y.M.: Answers in Spanish.

Sergeant Hernandez: Clarifies in Spanish.

Y.M.: Nods

Sergeant Hernandez: So, that's when, I already said her daughter woke up right? Uh, she called for her daughter to come to her side, and she held her and that's when he started poking his daughter, or her daughter's back with the knife.

(R. XIX, State's Exhibit 11 at 8:45-9:23). The second was approximately 28:32

into the video and lasted for approximately 21 seconds.

Detective Davis: Umm, when your daughter, when, when he was poking your daughter with the knife, did she get any injuries? Have you seen anything after that, any cuts?

Sergeant Hernandez: Translates in Spanish.

Y.M.: Answers in Spanish.

Sergeant Hernandez: No injuries, just very scared.

(R. XIX, State's Exhibit 11 at 28:32-28:53). Both of these exchanges added up to approximately 59 seconds of a 32-minute interview that was presented to the jury during Sergeant Hernandez's testimony. (R. XV, 435; R. XIX, State's Exhibit 11). No other testimony or evidence was presented on these statements made by Y.M. (R. XIV, 277 – R. XVI, 657). There was also no mention of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife during the State's opening statement or closing argument. (R. XIII, 121-128; R. XVII, 3-17, 27-37). Therefore,

the evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife was extremely limited when viewed in the context of all of the testimony and evidence that was presented to the jury over the four days that evidence was presented.

While there was extremely limited evidence presented of the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife, there was significant testimony about the defendant using a knife against Y.M., making threats against Y.M., and making threats against Y.A. (R. XIII, 157-160, 175-176, 178, 182, 183; R. XIV, 25-26, 33, 47-48, 51-52, 66, 72, 94, 98, 141, 149; R, XV, 10, 13, 49, 52-54; R. XVI, 19, 26, 120-121, 151; R. XIX, State's Exhibit 11). When viewing the record as a whole, it is clear that the admission of the evidence regarding the defendant poking Y.A. with a knife had little, if any, likelihood of the evidence changing the jury's verdict. There was overwhelming evidence presented to the jury of threats made by the defendant during the sexual assault of Y.M. The fact that the jury acquitted the defendant of the aggravated assault and aggravated intimidation of a witness or victim charges is irrelevant to whether the evidence for the charges the defendant was convicted of was overwhelming. The evidence of the defendant poking Y.A. with the knife was irrelevant to the charge of aggravated assault and there could be numerous explanations as to why the jury acquitted the defendant of the aggravated intimidation of a witness or victim but convicted him of the other six charges.

In order to have convicted the defendant of four of the six charges he was convicted of, the jury had to find that Y.M. was overcome by force or fear and a threat of violence was made to place Y.M. in fear. If the evidence was admitted in error, the error was harmless as there was more than enough evidence presented for the Court to declare beyond a reasonable doubt that the admission of the evidence had little, if any, likelihood of changing the result of the trial.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above arguments and authorities, the State of Kansas, Plaintiff-Appellee herein, respectfully requests this Court affirm Cardona-Rivera's convictions.